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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                    Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	DOROTHY L. KOERBER, 


Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

v.

SOLDOTNA ELKS LODGE #2706 ,


Employer,

and

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.


Insurer,



Defendants.
	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	        FINAL

        DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200319810
        AWCB Decision No.  07-0356

         Filed with AWCB in Juneau, Alaska

         on November 21,  2007


On May 29, 2007, at Anchorage, Alaska, we heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability benefits (“TTD”); permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits; medical benefits (including out-of-pocket medically-related expenses); compensation rate adjustment; interest; late-payment penalties; and a claim of unfair/frivolous controversion.  This claim, filed November 22, 2005, related to her low back injury based on a report of injury on July 25, 2003.  The employee appeared and represented herself.  Attorney Robert Bredesen represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  We issued an interlocutory order holding the record open to receive certain receipts to support the employee’s claim for out-of-pocket transportation expenses, and the employer’s objection to any of the late-submitted information.
  The employer’s final comment on the post-hearing documents was received on August 31, 2007, and the record closed when we next met on September 4, 2007.

ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to additional TTD benefits from September 16, 2004 through November 9, 2005 for her low back condition, under AS 23.30.185?

2. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits from September 16, 2004 through November 9, 2005 for her low back condition, under AS 23.30.095?

3. Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits for her low back condition under AS 23.30.190?

4. Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155(e)?

5. Is the employee entitled to interest under AS 23.30.155(p)?

6. Has the employer’s controversion been unfair and frivolous?


SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE

For the purposes of this decision, the recitation of facts is limited to those necessary to decide the issues before us.  

I. HISTORY OF EMPLOYEE’S MEDICAL CONDITION PRIOR TO DATE OF ALLEGED INJURY OF JULY 25, 2003

The employee testified at deposition that, prior to the alleged date of injury of July 25, 2003, she had experienced no significant pre-existing low back injury other than muscle strains that had resolved.
  The employee admitted to being treated for low back muscle strain in the emergency room at the Central Peninsula General Hospital (“CPGH”) in Kenai-Soldotna, related to an episode of inebriation at home where she kicked a sofa and fell over onto a kitchen chair, although she could not recall the date of the event during her deposition.
  Medical records in the file reflect that this incident occurred on December 3, 2000.  The employee did not complain of pain in the sacroiliac joints at that time.
  X-rays taken at that time identified no remarkable feature of the sacroiliac joints, no fractures or subluxations of the spine, coccyx or pelvis, but noted moderate intervertebral disk space narrowing at the L4-5 level.
  The employee was diagnosed with a contusion of the low back, sacrum and coccyx with lumbar strain, and alcohol intoxication.  She was given an intramuscular injection of Toradol, a pain reliever, prescriptions for pain relievers (Vicodin and ibuprofen), and instructed to apply ice to her back.
  There is no evidence in the record of additional treatments relating to this 2000 episode.

In January 2002, upon complaints of pain and limitation of motion in her right shoulder, and numbness in her hands, the employee was diagnosed with a possible rotator cuff tear of the right shoulder, degenerative disc disease, without foraminal stenosis, fracture or herniated nucleus pulposus, at C3-4, C4-5, and C5-6 of the cervical vertebrae, and possible thoracic outlet syndrome or carpal tunnel syndrome of the hands.  The medical provider’s notes outlined a treatment plan of physical therapy for the right shoulder and an EMG study of the hands, but we have no further records of treatment and outcome for these diagnoses.

The employee had several prior reports of workplace injury in Alaska, but none of these involved injury to the low back.
  The employee, who described herself as having been born on a farm, having lived in Wyoming, and accustomed to lifting heavy weights such as hay bales,
 at the time of injury was 5’8” tall and weighed approximately 212 lbs.

The employee’s prior medical and psychiatric history is remarkable for report of two successful pregnancies in approximately 1980 and 1982;
 ruptured ectopic pregnancy in 1983, with single oophorectomy, and hysterectomy in the 1990s;
 contracting Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever (“RMSF”)
 with an undescribed course; severe depression (with evidence of seasonal fluctuation in severity); anxiety; alcohol dependence; and cannabis dependence.
  The employee’s most recent psychiatric hospitalization, prior to July 25, 2003, was an admission on or about June 3, 2003.
  There is no indication the employee reported the RMSF history to any other provider beyond psychiatric nurse practitioner Randa and psychiatrist Dr. Magee.
  The employee admits that she has poor memory.
  The employee by report has smoked one to two packs of cigarettes per day, for many years.
  The employee experienced an exposure to perchloroethylene while working at a dry cleaning business; the employee testified she has no known injury as a result of that exposure.

II.  DESCRIPTION OF EVENT OF JULY 25, 2003

The employee was employed as a waitress with the Soldotna Elks Lodge (“Lodge”) at the time of the alleged injury.
  The employee described working by herself on Friday, July 25, 2003, to prepare the Lodge for a Friday night steak barbecue, with an expected crowd of 40 to 100 persons.  At the time of alleged injury, the employee was preparing for this event, including hauling of multiple 6-person folding tables by herself up a flight of stairs.
  A delivery of two large boxes of whole beef loins was made to the workplace at about 12:30 in the afternoon.  The employee could find no hand truck to move the meat, and the delivery person did not assist in moving the meat, after dropping it at the Lodge’s entryway.  Because it was summer, with air temperature in the 70s, the employee felt compelled to try to move the loins by herself to a refrigerator.  The employee described trying to lift and move one of the boxes, weighing by her estimate approximately
130 pounds.  She described trying to throw the box down a flight of stairs to a refrigerator, but her legs buckled and she fell on the landing of a stairway, with the box of loins in her lap.  She described immediate pain in her low back, and severe pain radiating into her legs.  She described sustaining a bruise on her right leg.  The pain of the episode caused her to break into a total sweat.
  The employee reported managing to call for assistance by crawling to a telephone, and also by opening a window to shout out to a patron in the parking lot.
  The employee testified that the patron and another person opened the meat boxes with box cutters, and moved the loins individually to the refrigerator.
  The employee poured herself a “stiff drink,” although against regulations for an on-duty alcohol server.  The patron (Bill Jensen) then took her home to rest.
 No witness testified to refute this testimony.

The employee testified that she never returned to work at the Lodge after this July 25, 2003 episode.

III. HISTORY OF MEDICAL TREATMENT AFTER JULY 25, 2003
Because this case involves the question of existence of objective evidence to support the employee’s subjective reports of pain, we closely examine the record of medical services received for evidence regarding the employee’s pain symptoms.

A. Medical treatment in 2003:
The employee, having experienced muscle strains before, testified that at first she thought she would improve with rest, and did not seek medical attention until Sunday, July 28, 2003.  At that time she presented to the emergency room of the CPGH complaining of low back pain and numbness in her left leg.
  A lumbar spine x-ray report noted lack of evidence of fracture or dislocation, with “very mild osseous degenerative changes, “very mildly narrowed” L4-5 disk space, and “mild anterior wedging of the T12 vertebral body that appears very mildly increased compared to 12/3/00.”
  The x-ray report stated the wedging “may be secondary to positioning, although this could indicate a very mild compression injury that has occurred sometime since the previous examination [of December 3, 2000].”  The employee was diagnosed with acute lumbosacral strain and acute left hip strain, with it noted that the employee had a contusion on her right leg.  She was given an injection of morphine sulfate and prescribed non-steroidal anti-inflammatory (NSAID) pain medications and muscle relaxers.  These reports were copied to her treating psychiatrist at the time, Jeffrey Magee, MD.
 

The employee next consulted with R.L. Carlson, MD on July 31, 2003, who noted that on left straight leg raise, the employee expressed “some pain in her back,” and found tenderness in the left sacroiliac joint.  Dr. Carlson’s progress note stated: “Evidence of exaggerated pain behavior: no.”

Dr. Carlson noted “subj[ective] numbness, ant[erior] aspect of left leg” and also of the left fourth and fifth fingers.  Dr. Carlson noted the employee was positive for numbness and tingling in the left leg, and that the employee was able to walk or sit only for a “few minutes.”  The employee was able to toe walk normally, and had normal bowel sounds without tenderness in the abdomen.  The employee reported incontinence of bladder “x 2.”  Dr. Carlson ordered a lumbo-sacral MRI, diagnosing “low back pain, suspect L-S [lumbo-sacral] spine radiculopathy,
 and prescribed pain relievers and aquatic physical therapy.
  Dr. Carlson wrote a note restricting the employee’s return to work, stating:

Dorothy Koerber should not work this next week unless she is allowed to sit or stand in a semi-reclined position, or lay down at any time.  She should also not do any lifting, pulling or pushing.

The employee was seen again on August 8, 2003 by Dr. Carlson, with the assessment of positive left straight leg raise test, and positive numbness on the anterior aspect of the left leg.  The assessment at that time was low back pain with suspected lumbosacral spine radiculopathy.  The employee was taken off Skelaxin, begun on Bextra, a lumbosacral MRI was ordered, and the employee was referred for aquatic physical therapy.
  Dr. Carlson’s progress note was sent by facsimile transmission by the Medicenter on August 8, 2003.
  The MRI was delayed, apparently due to communications between the insurance adjuster, Dr. Thiele’s office, and the hospital on the proper method for billing for the procedure.

On August 11, 2003, the employee was seen again by Dr. Carlson, who noted the employee’s report of pain radiating to her left toe, numbness and tingling of the left toe and leg, and stool/bowel urgency occurring with episodes of pain.  Dr. Carlson noted the employee’s report of inability to rest due to inability to lay still.  Dr. Carlson again charted no evidence of exaggerated pain behavior, also noting “well appearing, well nourished in no distress.”  Dr. Carlson noted tenderness of left sacroiliac joint and “some pain in her back” on left straight leg raise.  He noted deep tendon reflex deficit.  Dr. Carlson’s assessment at that time was low back pain with possible radiculopathy or possible sacroiliac joint sprain.  Dr. Carlson changed the muscle relaxer prescription to Flexeril, continued pain relievers, recommended 2-4 days of bed rest, but no time off work needed.  He recommended the employee engage in aerobic activity as tolerated.

A MRI study performed on August 20, 2003 showed “very mild posterior disc bulging at the L5-S1 level” but no disk herniation or neural impingement at the L1-2, L2-3, or L3-4 levels.  The MRI film was interpreted as supporting diagnosis of degenerative disk disease at the L4-5 level and a “very small broad-based area of disk bulging or contained disk herniation with underlying annular tear . . . which produces a very mild indentation of the anterior aspect of the thecal sac, but which produces no neural impingement.”  The report also noted “very mild posterior disk bulging at the L5-S1 level.
  The employee testified that she could not lay still during this MRI, and therefore she doubted that the MRI accurately depicted her condition.

The employee was seen after the MRI, by Dr. Carlson’s partner Kim Thiele, DO, on August 23, 2003.  On examination of the employee and review of the MRI results, the employee was observed to be “in obvious pain” with positive straight leg raise sign on the left.   Dr. Thiele’s diagnosis at that time was low back pain and degenerative disk disease, with continued pain management with Bextra, Flexeril, Percocet, and Duragesic, as well as continuation of the anti-depressant Paxil, and continued aquatic physical therapy.

The employee was seen again by Dr. Thiele on September 3, 2003.  The employee reported at that time pain in the hip and back of left leg to left toe, right leg cramps, and bowel and bladder incontinence.  Dr. Thiele noted that the employee reported back pain “is positional” with certain positions aggravating the pain.  With the report of positionally-aggravated back pain, Dr. Thiele suspected possible spondylolisthesis and formed the plan to obtain lumbosacral spine X-rays in flexion and extension, and referred the employee to orthopedist James M. Eule, MD.  Dr. Thiele prescribed Neurontin, Effexor and Percocet, and the patient was given an intramuscular injection of Demerol and Phenergan.

On September 19, 2003, Dr. Thiele again saw the employee, noting no deficits in the deep tendon reflexes, or muscle strength in the lower extremities, but that the employee could not raise her legs straight, expressed tenderness in her sacroiliac joint and lower spine, with continued muscle spasm and tingling.  The employee was re-prescribed pain medications of Percocet, muscle relaxant Flexeril, and given an intramuscular injection of Demerol with Phenargen.

Despite the referral to Dr. Eule, the employee was not seen by him at that time.  According to the employee, this was due to the insurer’s refusal to authorize the consultation.
  The employee was ultimately seen by Dr. Eule on July 28, 2005.

The employee was examined on October 13, 2003 by John Duddy, MD in Anchorage.  Dr. Duddy’s evaluation is discussed below, under the section “Specialist Medical Reports.” 

On November 11, 2003, Dr. Thiele noted a “well appearing, well nourished [employee] in no distress] who reported intermittent painful bowel movements, but otherwise normal neurologic examination of lower extremities, although the employee reported numbness and tingling, and cramps in the muscles of her legs.  His diagnosis remained lumbar disc disease, low back pain, bilateral hip pain with possible osteonecrosis.  The treatment plan remained treatment with Percocet, Flexeril, and Neurontin.  Dr. Thiele referred the employee for pain management (“PM&R”).

A MRI study of the hips was performed on December 12, 2003, with result of no evidence of avascular necrosis, but small cysts were detected on both femoral heads.

In follow-up on December 30, 2003 with Dr. Thiele, the employee reported pain on defecation, non-stress induced incontinence, continuing left leg pain and spasm, tenderness in left spine from L3 to S1, left buttock, and left hip.  Straight leg raise was 30° on the left but negative on the right, with exquisite pain over the lateral right hip, especially with abduction.  Dr. Thiele assessed the employee with right hip pain with sciatica / trocanter bursitis, with improved lumbosacral spine strain.  The employee was referred to a Dr. Ross for second opinion on the right hip pain, and a physical therapy program to strengthen the lumbar spine was prescribed.  Medication regimen continued Flexeril, Neurontin, with change to Vicodin and Naprosyn.
 

B. Medical treatment in 2004:
On February 26, 2004, the employee was examined again by Dr. Thiele, complaining of leg spasms or cramps, body tremors since beginning Paxil, blurry vision, vertigo, nausea, and “locking up” when bending over, incontinence when performing physical therapy, and continuing pain and numbness in toes.  Dr. Thiele observed a 45° straight leg lift on the right, and inability to lift the left leg when straightened.  Dr. Thiele measured the left leg as 1” shorter than the right leg, and diagnosed somatic dysfunction, left hip and sacroiliac joint, with a short left leg.  Dr. Thiele referred the employee for aquatic physical therapy, and to a chiropractor.  Medications were left at Naprosyn, Vicodin, and Flexeril.
  Dr. Thiele noted the employee’s “documented disc disease at L4-L5, which is non-surgical.”

On March 3, 2004, the employee was evaluated by Frontier Physical Therapy for aquatic therapy.

On March 3, 2004, the employee was evaluated by Carolyn Snowder, DC.  Based on the employee’s history and her physical examination of the employee, Dr. Snowder diagnosed displacement of lumbar intervertebral disc L4-L5 with degeneration, with left L4-L5 radiculitis and sacroiliac segmental dysfunction, opined that the condition was work-related, and estimated 90 days of treatment with a guarded prognosis.
 Dr. Snowder opined that these symptoms were work related due to the employee’s report of lifting a heavy box on July 25, 2003.

On March 8, 2004, Dr. Thiele gave the employee an injection of Nubain and Norflex in her left hip, and continued on Flexeril, Vicodin, physical therapy and chiropractic treatment.  He noted muscle spasm at that time.

On April 6, 2004, the employee consulted with Dr. Thiele, with symptoms generally the same.  Dr. Thiele recommended discontinuation of the physical therapy “for now, I feel the p[atient] may be doing too much right now,” but to continue chiropractic with Dr. Snowder.  Due to complaints of stomach pains, Dr. Thiele discontinued the naprosyn, but continued the employee on Vicodin, Flexeril and Bextra, with a trial of Avinza.

The employee was seen again by Dr. Snowder in April 2004, and Dr. Snowder noted the incontinence of bladder (“pt. says she has to use pads for urine, has to use restroom every ½ hr or loss of urine”), and “strongly” recommended a repeat MRI.
  Dr. Thiele at the same time in April 2004 noted that the employee has lost 30 pounds since January 2004 (per the patient’s report), and was using a heel lift to compensate for a measured difference in leg length, although noting the patient’s report that the heel lift gave the employee pain on her right side.  The employee reported no improvement, and Dr. Thiele discontinued physical therapy and suggested treadmill work.  The employee was taken off Naprosyn but continued on Vicodin.
 

The employee reported to the CPGH emergency room on May 17, 2004 with a report of experiencing a spasm in her back and leg which occurred while she was descending a ladder or steep stairway in her home.
  She reported falling from the third step to the bottom of the stairs, hitting her head (without loss of consciousness), with loss of continence of urine and bowel.
A CT-scan of the head was unremarkable.
  X-ray of the employee’s right shoulder, lumbar, thoracic and cervical spine on May 17, 2004 were unremarkable, except notation of the degenerative disc disease previously noted in the employee’s thoracic and lumbar spine.
  The employee was given an intramuscular injection of Demerol and Valium, prescribed Bextra, Flexeril, and Demerol, and referred to Dr. Thiele to discuss whether there was need for a repeat MRI.

On May 24, 2004, the employee was seen by Dr. Thiele, reporting the fall one week prior.  The employee reported left leg weakness and numbness, with persistent pain and tenderness from the lumbar spine through the left buttock down to the left knee.  The employee reported “incontinence of urine for monthes [sic] now.”  The employee reported right shoulder and neck pain.  Dr. Thiele diagnosed degenerative disc disease with low back pain, right shoulder and neck strain due to a fall.  He ordered physical therapy for the employee’s neck, right shoulder and low back, and referred the employee to pain management and rehabilitation treatment in Anchorage.  The employee was prescribed Flexeril, Bextra and a Duragesic pain patch.

On June 29, 2004, Dr. Thiele referred the employee for physical therapy and work hardening program to strengthen her low back muscle strength.  The employee was resistant to aquatic physical therapy due to her inability to control urinary function.  The employee was continued on the Duragesic pain patch, and Vicodin.

On July 6, 2004, Dr. Thiele assessed continuing low back pain and degenerative disc disease, with the plan that the employee continue treatments with chiropractor Snowder, continue with the shoe lift, referral for physical therapy for “back school and work hardening.”  The employee declined aquatic physical therapy due to incontinence, and the Duragesic patch was stopped.  The employee was placed on Vicodin.

The employee underwent a second physical therapy intake evaluation on July 9, 2004, attended one physical therapy session on July 9, 2004, and missed three physical therapy sessions on July 12, 14, and 16, 2004.  The employee attended a physical therapy session on July 21, 2004.  During the July 9 physical therapy evaluation, the employee was noted to have palpable muscle tension through thoracic lumbar musculature.
  The employee reported that physical therapy worsened her symptoms.  Physical therapy was discontinued on August 27, 2004.

 On July 28, 2004, Dr. Thiele wrote a note for the employee that stated that the employee at that time “cannot fly to I.M.E. meeting this afternoon due to severe bladder and bowel incontinence…which is most likely secondary to worsening disc injury.”

On July 29, 2004, Dr. Thiele observed the employee in what he described as “moderate distress,” with the patient reporting symptoms of severe leg pain, numbness bilaterally to her feet, along with worsening incontinence of stool and urine.  Dr. Thiele referred the employee to the emergency room of CPGH, to which she was transported by ambulance.
  At the time that the employee was picked up by the EMT crew, she was observed laying on the floor of Dr. Thiele’s office, complaining of pain equivalent to child birth, observed with “spasms in her legs along with lower back.”  The employee was administered 10 mgs of valium “with minor relief of pain” on the way to the ER.

Later on July 29, 2004, in the CPGH emergency department, the employee was observed to have intact rectal tone, “although she does appear to have saddle anesthesia, despite her normal rectal tone.”  The employee’s back was noted to have “paraspinal tenderness in the lumbar area bilaterally with spasm.”  Diagnosed at that time with degenerative disc disease and multiple sclerosis, the employee was started on a “1 week burst of Prednisone” at 60 mg per day, a Duragesic patch, Vicodin and Bextra.  She was also given Ativan IV while in the Emergency Department.

Immediately following this visit to the CPGH Emergency Room on July 29, 2004, the employee underwent another MRI of the lumbar spine.  This image was read as noting normal signal at L3-4.  At L4-5, degenerative disc changes were noted with posterior bilateral annular tear that “was present on the previous study” of August 20, 2003, with evidence of “mild ligamentous and facet hypertrophy,” without foramenal or canal stenoses.  At L5-S1, degenerative disc changes were noted, with “mild retrolisthesis” and “broad-based posterior disk bulge,” again with no forminal or canal stenoses but mild ligamentous and facet hypertrophy noted.  

On August 13, 2004, Dr. Thiele noted the July 29 ER visit, medications administered there, and noted that a repeat MRI performed on July 29, 2004, showed degenerative disc changes with posterior annular tear at L4-5.  Dr. Thiele diagnosed the employee with degenerative disc disease of the lumbosacral spine, referred the employee to a neurologist, started her on Ditropan, and continued Duragesic, Vicodin and Soma, and ordered aquatic physical therapy in a private setting.  Dr. Thiele ordered ceasing of chiropractic care, and stopped the Prednisone therapy.
 

The employee thereafter was seen and treated with differing pain medications on September 1,
 14 and 22, 2004.

On October 14, 2004, Dr. Thiele assessed the same results on exam as on previous occasion, reviewed Dr. Stump’s September 16, 2004 report, and was informed (evidently, by the employee) of the employer’s controversion of the workers’ compensation claim.  The assessment at that time remained low back pain, with the plan that the employee would be sent back to work, sent to aquatic physical therapy for back strengthening, and that the employee still needed pain management.  Dr. Thiele planned a referral to Dr. Roderer for pain management opinion, including whether to administer epidural steroids.  Dr. Thiele recommended continuation of therapy with Dr. Snowder, and prescribed hydrocodone, Paxil, Ditropan and Flexeril.

On October 14, 2004, Chiropractor Snowder assessed no change in the employee’s status, and recommended continued therapy.

On December 11, 2004, the employee was examined at the CPGH Emergency Department, with report of increased symptoms of depression.  Noted at that time to have “last tx. [treatment] received more than 1 year ago,” the employee’s risk for suicide was assessed as low, and she was released with follow-up with a clinician the following Monday, and a follow-up appointment with ANP Ronda on December 21.

On December 13, 2004, the employee reported to the CPGH Emergency Room with reports of worsening depression and suicidal ideation, including a distinct suicide plan.
  She was transferred to the Mental Health Unit of  Providence Alaska Medical Center in Anchorage.  The employee reported her history of psychiatric problems and treatment.  She also related her chronic low back, hip and neck pain.  The employee was diagnosed with a major depressive disorder, recurrent with inter-episode recovery and with a possible seasonal component, chronic back, neck and hip pain.  A plan was formed to continue the employee on Paxil, add Ambien, but defer administration of all pain medications and benzodiazepines pending a medical consult.

On December 15, 2004, the employee was evaluated by Douglas C. Smith, MD, who noted that the employee admitted at that time to daily marijuana use.
  While at Providence, the employee was placed on low dosage of benzodiazepines, and was cross-titrated from Paxel to Cymbalta, an anti-depressant medication.  The employee was discharged with prescription for Cymbalta and clonazepam (0.5 mg twice per day), and with a plan for the employee to pursue a substance abuse program in Arizona to address her marijuana use, and to address her report of past alcohol abuse.  She also was referred for follow-up appointment with Jane Randa, ANP, of Soldotna.

On December 21, 2004, the employee was seen by Janet Randa, ANP for psychiatric evaluation following discharge from Providence.  She was diagnosed at that time with a major depressive disorder, dysthymic disorder, cannabis dependence (in partial sustained remission by employee’s self-report), and alcohol dependence (in full sustained remission by employee’s self-report), with a Global Assessment of Function (GAF) of 47.  Nurse Practitioner Randa recommended continuation of psychiatric medications of Cymbalta and Klonopin, and referred her for psychiatric counseling.

C. Medical treatment in 2005:
On January 5, 2005, the employee reported to the Emergency Department of CPGH complaining of intractable pain.  The employee’s history of depression, anxiety, and chronic pain was noted, the employee currently on Cymbalta and Klonopin, with Excedrin for pain.  The physician noted “light touch is decreased to both feet.”  The employee was given morphine intramuscularly, with a prescription for mepergan fortis and Flexeril.

On March 16, 2005, the employee was examined by Sean Taylor, MD of the Alaska Spine Institute in Anchorage.  See discussion below, under the section entitled “Medical Specialists Reports,” of Dr. Taylor’s findings.  On April 11, 2005, at Dr.Taylor’s order, the employee underwent a nuclear medicine whole body bone scan.  The result of this scan was that “there is normal accumulation of radionuclide within the skeleton with no areas of increased or decreased activity identified.  Bilateral renal function is demonstrated.”

On April 15, 2005, the employee reported to the CPGH Emergency Department with intransigent back pain; the employee was given an intramuscular injection of Demerol and versed, prescribed Mepargan Fortis
 and Flexeril.

Three days later, on April 18, 2005, the employee again reported to the CPGH Emergency Department with intransigent back pain.
  She was found to be crying and sobbing with headache and severe back pain, reported pain radiating down both hips, numbness and tingling in her thighs, and pain in her toes.  She was admitted to the hospital as an inpatient.  Dr. Marguerite McIntosh, the employee’s admitting and treating physician, noted these symptoms:

Patient was found crying and sobbing . . . unable to get out of the wheelchair and into bed without assistance.  She had difficulty rolling from side to side. . . .  I checked her sensation with a sharp object and she had definite numbness to pinprick in the L4 distribution in both legs.  I did a rectal exam and found her rectal tone to be less than normal though not completely flaccid.  Sensation around the anus is normal.

The employee’s leg strength was noted to not have full range of motion with symmetry of strength, noting that the employee’s right and left legs had “mild weakness,” with altered sensation including numbness.
  Dr. McIntosh, expressing concern of deteriorating neurologic symptoms, consulted with Dr. Eule, who opined that the employee “most likely did not have cauda equine syndrome or we would have seen a severe colonize [sic: compromise?] of the spinal canal.”  Dr. Eule recommended flexion and extension views of the lumbar spine to look for evidence of an unstable spondylolisthesis.
  

Dr. McIntosh ordered a repeat MRI of the lumbar spine, performed on April 18, 2005, which continued to reveal the posterior annular tear and central disc protrusion at L4-5 (“slightly less prominent than on previous study”), left parasagittal disc protrusion at L-5 (“slightly more prominent . . . without definite nerve root impingement”), and this time mild canal stenosis at L4-5 and bilateral foraminal stenoses at L5-S1.
  X-rays revealed no evidence of spondylolisthesis, retrolisthesis, or spondylolysis, but note “minimal dextroscoliosis” in the lower thoracic and upper lumbar spine, with “disk space narrowing of a moderate degree at L4-5 and L5-S1.”
  The employee was given interferential current through a TENS unit, with “some relief,”  and various medications were tried (amitryptyline HCl, indomethacin, demerol, tizanidine HCl, pantoprazole sodium, enoxaparin sodium, methadone, morphine, Benadryl, Mepergan, and Flexeril) while the employee was admitted to CPGH.  The employee was discharged with a diagnosis of ruptured disc, L4 radiculopathy, and intractable pain, with instructions to follow up with Dr. Thiele “for a referral to Dr. Eule.”  The employee was discharged on April 21, 2005 with prescriptions for tizanidine, pantoprazole, ibuprofen, and morphine sulfate (in extended release and immediate release compilations).
 

On April 24, 2005, the patient was re-admitted to the CPGH with complaint of nausea and vomiting, secondary to morphine intake.  While admitted, she was switched to a Fentanyl pain patch.  The employee reported three consecutive days of vomiting, and was admitted for rehydration and stabilization.  While admitted, the physical therapist concluded that the employee would not benefit from inpatient physical therapy.
  Dr. McIntosh continued to follow the employee as an outpatient.

On May 11, 2005, the employee presented to Dr. McIntosh’s office complaining about back pain, but on examination was shown to have tenderness and pain in the right upper quadrant of the abdomen.  Previous ultrasound had been positive for gall bladder stones, and she was referred to the CPGH for testing for acute cholecystitis.  The employee was given an injection of Demerol with phenergan intramuscularly, with some relief of the abdominal pain.  She was referred to Dr. Regina Chennault, prescribed Mepergan Fortis and taken off oxycodone.  The Fentanyl pain patch was continued.

On May 16, 2005, the employee underwent a laparoscopic cholecystectomy to remove an enlarged gall bladder.
  Tissue biopsy of the excised gall bladder was diagnosed as showing chronic cholecystitis.

On June 2, 2005, the employee left a message, evidently with Dr. McIntosh’s office, that her pain is “too severe” and that she is taking double patches of pain reliever, evidently Fentanyl.

On June 9, 2005, the employee reported to the CPGH Emergency Department complaining of “overwhelming” pain, and overlapping her Fentanyl patches to increase pain control.  The employee was tearful during examination.  The employee was released from the emergency department without medication, to follow up with Dr. McIntosh as an outpatient later that day.
  The employee was seen later that day by Pat Merwin, NCAC II.
 Merwin’s chart note for that visit noted the employee’s tearful demeanor, compromised judgment, perception and insight, with assessment at that time of chronic pain, history of depression, and Axis II psychiatric features, including post-traumatic stress disorder.  The employee was advised to continue to take medications as prescribed, attend her appointments, and to follow up with behavioral health with Merwin.

On June 17, 2005, the employee was observed by Dr. McIntosh, who noted the employee could not walk on her left heel, had trouble raising from a squat, and that she had positive straight leg raising sign with pain referred to the low back.  Dr. McIntosh noted altered sensation to pinprick.  Dr. McIntosh’s assessment at that time was “known rupture disc lumbar spine,” with a plan to “referral to Dr. Eule.”
  On July 6, 2005, Dr. McIntosh referred the employee to Dr. Eule for evaluation and treatment.
 

On July 7, 2005, the employee was seen by Pat Merwin, NCAC II, regarding the employee’s stressors at that time, noted to include chronic pain and other behavioral issues.

On July 28, 2005, the employee was evaluated by Dr. James Eule.  See the summary of that evaluation below, under the section entitled “Specialist Medical Reports.”

On August 2, 2005, the employee was seen again by Dr. McIntosh, who diagnosed at that time parasaggital disc rupture at L5, angular tear and disc rupture at L4-5, with peripheral neuropathy and chronic pain.  Dr. McIntosh prescribed a Fentanyl pain patch, hydrocodone with APAP and effexor XR.
  At that time of August 2, 2005, Dr. McIntosh opined that the employee’s symptoms were work-related, released the employee to modified work with restrictions, noting the employee’s inability to right herself after flexing to 90 degrees, that straight leg raising caused pain in her back bilaterally, antalgic gait, weakness in the left leg with plantar flexion and extension, and dullness in the employee’s instep, inside both ankles to the mid-calf.

On September 27, 2005, emergency medical personnel were summoned to the employee’s home.  The employee was found standing upright at the door of her home, “slightly bent over in obvious pain.”  The employee was assisted into a gurney and transported to the CPGH, administered nitrous oxide during transport which the employee reported assisted in her response to back spasms.  “Pt. did experience one severe episode of pain in her left hip enroute which was relieved with repositioning and time.”  Assessment by the EMTs was “severe muscle spasms, nerve pain generated by previous injury.”

Dr. Magen assessed the employee during this episode on September 27, 2005, noting the employee’s history, that the employee was tearful but alert, tender over right shoulder with restricted range of motion in the shoulder, and marked tenderness in the lumbar back and left hip.  Neurological exam of the lower extremities was unremarkable.  X-ray of the right shoulder was unremarkable.  She was given an intramuscular injection of Demerol and Versed with relief.  The employee requested hospitalization, but in light of the employee’s scheduled intake with Dr. Eule, and the lack of Dr. McIntosh or Dr. Magen’s view of any additional course of treatment, hospitalization was declined.  The employee was given an additional Fentanyl patch and Flexeril.

On October 5, 2005, the employee was seen by Dr. McIntosh complaining of pain in her right shoulder.  She described being off narcotics for several days, and wanting to stay off them, to just be on Norco for pain.  The employee expressed the desire to stop Fentanyl because it makes her sleep all the time.  The employee was given an injection of Lidocaine, Kenalog and Decadron into her shoulder, with reported relief, and prescriptions of Norco and Cyclobenzaprine, with a prescription for Effexor XR (to be weaned off).  In her Physician’s Report, Dr. McIntosh opined that the employee was medically stable as of October 5, 2005.

Assessments by Dr. McIntosh thereafter are generally consistent with her August 2, 2005 assessment, and the employee has received behavioral management and medication management since then.
  

The employee was again referred to the Alaska Spine Institute on November 11, 2005, for an assessment and permanent partial impairment rating.
  

The employee reported a fall in December 2005, which was diagnosed as a re-exacerbation of the 2003 workplace injury.  On December 5, when she reported to the CPGH Emergency Department, the employee was given an intramuscular injection of Toradol, and prescribed Flexeril, ibuprofen and Norco; on December 15, she was prescribed morphine IR.
  X-rays of the employee’s lumbar spine, coccyx and sacrum, and CT scan of the employee’s pelvis were negative for any acute injury; disc space narrowing at L4-5 and L5-S1 were noted on x-rays of the lumbar spine.

D. Medical treatment in 2006 and 2007:
On January 31, 2006, the employee was seen again by Dr. McIntosh, who noted a “fixed flexion deformity” of the employee’s back, weakness in quads.  Dr. McIntosh opined that the employee is “back to her original state before she fell and is medically stable again.”  The employee was taken off methadone, prescribed Flexeril, Mepergan Fortis, and ibuprofen.

The employee was seen on March 13, 2006 by Dr. McIntosh, for medication refill.  The employee reported taking Motron 800 mg, with Mepergan Fortis for breakthrough pain.  The employee requested something not so strong, so Dr. McIntosh prescribed oxycodone.  The employee reports continuing muscle spasms, sometimes at rest.  Her urinary incontinence has gone away.  During examination Dr. McIntosh reported feeling the employee’s muscles spasm in her back, especially in the right lumbar area.

The employee was seen by Shawn Johnston, MD at the Alaska Spine Institute on  March 16, 2006; Dr. Johnston’s evaluation and rating are described below, under the section entitled “Specialist Medical Reports.”

On April 22, 2006, the employee again was seen by Dr. McIntosh, reporting continuing pain symptoms.  The employee reported walking 1.5 miles, twice per day, but her weight remained at 220 pounds.  She reported stools with mucus and epigastric discomfort.  Because the employee was planning to travel for three weeks, without an immediate opportunity for a workup on the epigastric pain, Dr. McIntosh prescribed Cipro, Flagyl and Protonix. Other medications prescribed at that time were Tramadol and  Effexor XR.

There are no other records of treatment after April 22, 2006 in our file.  On May 14, 2007, Dr. McIntosh submitted a Physician’s Report that opined that the employee’s condition is work-related, stating that the employee can sit only 2 hours at a time, walks 1.5 miles per day twice per day, and walks in a pool.  The employee is on Mepergan Fortis for flare ups.  In the category of objective examination, Dr. McIntosh notes the employee is in fixed flexion (“can’t stand straight”), and has sustained muscle spasm, especially of the left erector spinae.  The employee has a positive straight leg raise test, on the left greater than on the right.  Her impression is flare up of workplace injury with severe muscle strain and radiculopathy.  She is treating the employee symptomatically with ice, a TENS unit, and stretching, that the employee has reached maximum medical benefit and has a permanent impairment.

IV. SPECIALIST MEDICAL REPORTS:

A. John T. Duddy, MD (Oct. 13, 2003):

The employee was seen by John Duddy, MD, orthopedist,
 who noted the employee “in acute distress,” noted a negative straight leg raising test, “questionable pain with internal rotation of each hip.  Dorsiflexion/plantar flexion and EHL 5/5.”  He reviewed x-rays and the lumbar MRI available at that time,
 concluding “no significant degeneration” and “no herniated nucleus pulposus of the lumbar spine. No neural impingement.”  Dr. Duddy diagnosed degenerative disc disease with possible avascular necrosis of the hip. 
  He recommended the employee have an MRI of her hips.  The hip MRIs were delayed until December 2003.  Dr. Duddy twice medically prescribed the hip MRI.
 

B. James C. Champoux, MD and Jacquelyn Weiss, MD (Oct. 22, 2003):

The employee underwent an employer-sponsored medical examination (EME) on October 22, 2003 by James C. Champoux, MD (an orthopedic surgeon) and Jacquelyn A. Weiss, MD, PhD (a neurologist).  Dr. Weiss reports normal muscle tone, strength and reflexes in the lower extremities, and that the employee was able to heel and toe walk although slowly.  Dr. Champoux observed no palpable paravertebral lumbar spasm, observed forward flexion to 80°, extension of 20°, right and left lateral bending to approximately 30°, and right and left trunk rotation of 25 to 30°.  Leg length was observed to be equal.  Both Dr. Weiss and Dr. Champoux recorded the employee’s complaint of pain on en bloc trunk rotation,
 and Dr. Champoux noted that the employee could raise her legs straight while seated without complaint of pain, but complained of pain and lesser degree of flexion when performing the same maneuver while laying supine (along with, he notes, holding of breath, deep sighing, and gritting of teeth).
  Dr. Champoux recited that “[r]ange of motion of the hips demonstrates slight limitation of left hip internal and external rotation, compared to that of the right.  Left hip abduction is also slightly limited compared to right hip abduction.”
  On these observations, Drs. Champoux and Weiss concluded that the employee had sustained a work-related lumbar strain, that the employee had pre-existing degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine, and that the employee might have non-work related pre-existing osteoarthritis or avascular necrosis of the left hip that needed further testing to be ruled out.
  The employee was found to not be medically stable at that time (October 22, 2003), and the doctors recommended physical therapy focused on strengthening and increasing mobility of the employee’s trunk musculature, with tapering of use of narcotic medication.  The doctors predicted medical stability would be reached in one to two months after physical therapy.
  No permanent physical impairment was anticipated as a result of the workplace injury.

C. James Green, MD and William Stump, MD (Mar. 18, 2003; Aug. 5, 2004; Sept. 16, 2004):

On March 18, 2004, the employee was examined by James Green, MD (an orthopedic surgeon) and William Stump, MD (a neurologist).  The report recites review of x-ray reports of July 28, 2003, lumbar MRI of August 20, 2003, and hip MRIs of December 12, 2003.  The report does not recite review of x-ray and MRI images themselves, and on deposition Dr. Stump indicated they did not have access to the original images, but had only the reports themselves to rely upon.
  Dr. Green charted normal gait “without antalgic components,” normal range of motion in the back and hips, except that “left buttock tenderness is increased by internal rotation of the hip,” and “pain with external rotation of the left hip against resistance,” without detectable resting muscle spasm.  Dr. Green noted 90 degree extension of the straight leg while seated, and 80 degrees extension while supine, “without complaint.”  Dr. Green noted that “whole-body rotation on turning to the right elicits report of mild discomfort in the left hip.”  Dr. Stump’s neurologic examination assessed normal motor strength, deep tendon reflexes and station and gait.  The employee was noted as having an abnormal pattern of decreased pinprick sensitivity in the anterolateral thigh, shin and foot region.
  On these observations, Drs. Green and Stump diagnosed a history of lumbosacral strain, secondary to the July 25, 2003 industrial injury, with “secondary left piriformis syndrome,” and early lumbar degenerative disc disease without radiculitis or radiculopathy, unrelated to the July 25, 2003 episode.
  The doctors opined at that time that the employee could return to work as a bartender, “but should not be expected to initially repetitively lift, bend, or stoop.  It is likely that she will improve and ultimately return to full function.”  The doctors did not consider the employee medically stable at that time, “such that the injury is considered a substantial factor in her work restrictions,” and that “[s]he has only recently begun treatment which might be efficacious.”  They suggested ice, ultrasound, vigorous massage of the left buttock muscles, range-of-motion stretching 3X per week, swimming and cycling, with maximum benefit expected within 6 to 8 weeks.  The doctors did not discuss the annular tear observed on MRI, nor address the employee’s complaints of urinary incontinence.
 

On August 5, 2004, the employee’s medical records were reviewed by James Green, MD again.  Dr. Green reviewed reports of x-rays following a fall reported to have occurred on May 17, 2004, the employee’s consultation with Dr. Thiele after the fall, and referral for physical therapy thereafter.  Dr. Green opined that “[n]o neurologic or structural abnormality was identified at the time of the March 18, 2004 independent medical examination which would be expected to cause her to sustain unexpected falls.  She was not describing unexpected falls at the time of that examination.  More probably than not, her fall on the stairs was due to an unrelated event.”  Dr. Green noted lack of documentation of progress with chiropractic and physical therapy, and recommended discontinuation of those thereapies “if she is not progressively improving, as would be expected with the normal healing course.”  Dr. Green disagreed with Dr. Thiele’s opinions that incontinence prohibited Ms. Koerber from traveling to Seattle from Alaska for an independent evaluation, reasoning that she could wear an adult diaper during the travel.

On September 16, 2004, the employee was examined by neurologist William Stump, MD, again.  Dr. Stump noted the employee’s report of increasing pain with physical therapy and chiropractic treatments, the unremarkable March 17, 2004 CT scan, the lack of indications of fracture or subluxations or abnormalities as shown by x-ray imaging after the May 17, 2004 fall, and the
 July 29, 2004 lumbar spine MRI showing no significant change, degenerative discs, but noting a posterior annular tear at L4-5.  The employee reported numbness and tingling in her feet, pain in her legs and low back, continuing urinary incontinence and bowel urgency (with the one episode of bowel incontinence during the fall on May 17, 2004).  Dr. Stump reported the employee complained of pain on extension of the left leg beyond 25 degrees while supine.  Dr. Stump felt the motor exam of right lower extremity was normal, with “give away weakness” on assessment of the iliopsoas on the left side, finding “normal” range of motion on the remainder of the left lower extremity.  Dr. Stump found normal knee and ankle reflexes bilaterally, with stable, normal station and gait except “rather marked decreased stance phase on the left.”  Dr. Stump diagnosed lumbosacral strain secondary to industrial injury of July 25, 2003, and mild degenerative disc disease, unrelated to industrial injury, without active radiculitis or radiculopathy.  Dr. Stump opined that the employee likely experienced a “straining injury” on July 25, 2003, which “would have resolved.”  Finding that the employee had reached maximum  medical stability, without permanent impairment, Dr. Stump opined that the employee could return to work as a bartender without work restrictions.  Dr. Stump noted the “mild degenerative disc disease at L4-5 and L5-S1,” in his opinion pre-existed the industrial event and would be rated as a 5% whole person impairment under DRE Category II for lumbar spine  condition, citing the July 2004 MRI as evidence of “no progression with reference to her preexisting condition.”  Dr. Stump recommended discontinuation of physical therapy and chiropractic, opining that she would be “best treated by a self-directed exercise program” and a “progressive gait program.”

D. Sean Taylor, MD (Mar. 16, 2005):

The employee was examined by Sean Taylor, MD, a pain management specialist, at the Alaska Spine Institute, on March 16, 2005.
  The employee reported incontinence of bowel two times since the original injury in July 2003, and that bowel incontinence had not occurred for the last four or five months at that time.  Dr. Taylor reported gait within normal limits, full range of motion of lumbar and cervical spine, negative straight leg raise bilaterally and positive femoral stretch sign bilaterally.  Dr. Taylor reviewed the MRI of left hip dated December 12, 2003, lumbar spine MRI of July 29, 2004, CT scan of the head of May 17, 2004, and x-rays of the hips, shoulders, and spine on May 17, 2004 and July 29, 2004.  Dr. Taylor noted a “problem list” of chronic cervical and lumbar strain, incomplete medical records, history of nighttime sweats and nighttime pain, and bladder incontinence.  The employee was to provide Dr. Taylor with releases so that he could obtain a full medical record, the employee was to discontinue Vicodin and start Ultracet, and Dr. Taylor ordered a full bone scan to rule out metastatic disease.  He concluded that “[h]er imaging studies are only remarkable for degenerative disc disease with an annular tear at L4-L5.”
  There is no record in our files that the employee followed up with any further treatment or evaluation with Dr. Taylor.

E. James M. Eule, MD (July 28, 2005):

Following her April 17, 2005 report of fall, and repeated admissions in April 2005 to the CPGH (during which there was a telephonic consult with orthopedist James M. Eule, MD), the employee was examined by Dr. Eule on July 28, 2005.  At that time, the employee was on Norco and a fentanyl pain patch.  Dr. Eule noted the employee smokes one pack per day of cigarettes.  At time of examination, the employee was weighed at 210 pounds, 5’7” tall.  Dr. Eule noted 5/5 motor strength, equal and symmetric reflexes, downgoing toes, absence of clonus
 and tension signs in the lower extremities.  Dr. Eule examined x-ray and MRI images, but he did not identify the dates of the images reviewed.
  He noted “mild degenerative changes” in the employee’s lumbar spine on x-rays, but no “obvious instability [and n]o significant gross abnormalities.”  His review of the MRI noted the degenerative changes at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels, with a broad-based disc bulge at the L4-5 level “which does not appear to cause any compression on the nerve roots and certainly no central spinal stenosis,” and “a herniated disc at the left side that could be touching the S1 nerve root but does not cause any central spinal stenosis” at L5-S1.  Dr. Eule concluded that “she certainly does not have enough compression in her spinal canal to cause any problems with her bowels and bladder, so any problems with her bowels and bladder are secondary to something else which I am not able to delineate from her back.”  He recommended a consult with an urologist.  Dr. Eule concluded that “[a] component of her pain is from these disc herniations but there is nothing that I could do surgically for her that could change the symptoms that she is having except for possibly her left leg pain and certainly I do not think we are even close to that at this time.”  Dr. Eule also recommended the employee be seen by a physiatrist due to the absence of surgical options.

F. Shawn Johnston, MD (Mar. 16, 2006):

The employee was seen by Dr. Shawn Johnston, a pain management specialist,
 for a permanent impairment rating.  The employee reported at that time, according to Dr. Johnston’s chart note, that her bladder function “which for the most part has improved and is nearing the baseline of what it was for her stress urinary incontinence, which she had prior to the lifting injury.”  Dr. Johnston noted straight-leg raising test induced bilateral leg pain, lack of lower extremity atrophy or fasciculation, and 4 out of 5 Waddell signs.  Dr. Johnston noted symmetric reflexes at the knee and ankle, normal Babinski response, with normal, nonantalgic, non-spastic gait.  Dr. Johnston concluded the employee demonstrated lower back pain with non-verifiable radicular complaints.  With the annular tear at L4-L5, he noted “could cause a chemical radiculitis.”  He concluded the employee demonstrated a 5% whole person impairment under DRE category II of the AMA Guides, 5th Edition, table 15-3, page 384.  He rated no impairment as the result of a neurogenic bladder.

G. John D. McDermott, MD, FACS (Sept. 18, 2006):

The employee was seen for a Second Independent Medical Examination by John D. McDermott, MD, FACS, an orthopedic surgeon, on September 18, 2006.  The employee related her medical history at that time, and reported back spasms at rest, occurring spontaneously several times per day.  She reported that in the last six months, she has had no incontinence.  Dr. McDermott described the employee as “a difficult historian,”
 explained in the report and at deposition to mean that the employee frequently went off on a tangent rather than responding directly to the doctor’s questions.  Dr. McDermott did not observe spasm during his examination.  The employee was able to straight leg raise while seated to 90 degrees.  The employee was able to bend over at the waist while standing, but raised herself using a hand-climbing method that Dr. McDermott described as not functionally effective.
  While supine, the employee was reluctant to extend fully, stating she could not lift her legs from the table.  Left hip showed pain on both internal and external rotation while laying supine.  Dr. McDermott observed the employee able to walk on her toes without difficulty, with unremarkable dorsiflexion and normal strength of feet and ankles.  Knee jerk reflexes were 1+ and equal bilaterally, while the Achilles reflex was observed as “plus/minus.”  Sensation disturbance
 was reported by the employee wider on the left leg, ranging from the left thigh to the left mid-calf.  Sensation disturbance on the right leg ranged from the lateral aspect of the right thigh, extending down the right lateral calf to a hand breadth above the ankle, where sensation again was noted to be normal.  No sensory deprivation in the feet was reported or observed.
  X-rays were not available for Dr. McDermott to review.  MRI reports, X-ray reports, and other medical reports were reviewed.
  Dr. McDermott concluded that 

this examiner was unable to document any objective pathology based on the examination of 9/11/06.  It is noted that the imaging studies are not available for review and will be anticipated following which further attempt at specific diagnosis would be considered.  At today’s examination we are left with a patient with subjective complaints of low back, left hip pain that had defied diagnosis over the intervening several years by multiple examiners; has been treated essentially with pain medication in a patient, however, who is documented to have addictive behaviors.  I cannot with reasonable medical probability substantiate that the 7/25/03 episode was a causing, aggravating, or accelerating factor to the patient’s chronic back and left hip symptoms.

Dr. McDermott concluded that the employee’s “nondermatomal sensory deprivation is not associated with any other neurological findings” and “that previous examinations by both orthopedists and neurologists have been unable to confirm any neurological deficit.”
Dr. McDermott noted the employee expressed hip pain on internal and external rotation while laying supine, but expressed no pain on weight bearing or straight leg extended motion. 

Dr. McDermott agreed with previous EME assessments on the employee’s medical stability, and on placing no restrictions on the employee’s ability to work.  Dr. McDermott agreed with the assessment of non-work related permanent partial impairment under DRE Category II based on degenerative disc disease with non-verifiable radicular complaints.
  

At deposition, Dr. McDermott explained that he considered as “objective findings” only those that he himself observed during an examination, and that observations of other providers he did not consider to be objective to him, because he did not make the observations.

V.   WITNESS TESTIMONY

The only witness to testify at hearing was the claimant, Dorothy Koerber.  Her testimony has been summarized above.  The employee stated in her brief that she attempted to return to work, under her doctors’ restrictions, in February 2004, but the employer refused to employ her with any health restrictions.
  The employee testified that Dr. Stump did not actively participate in the first EME, tilting in a chair against a wall with his hands folded across his chest and his eyes closed.
  She argued that Dr. Stump’s opinion after his second EME that the employee could return to work was incorrect, because she was having difficulty completing household chores.  The deposition of Ms. Koerber was submitted and we also reviewed that.  The portions of her deposition found salient have been cited above.

The employer listed two witnesses to testify at hearing, but chose not to call them.

The depositions of Dr. James McDermott and Dr. William Stump were submitted, and we reviewed those as well.  The salient points of those depositions, beyond the opinions expressed in their written reports, have been cited above. 

VI. EMPLOYEE’S OUT-OF-POCKET MEDICALLY-RELATED EXPENSES 

Upon our prompting, the employee submitted an unsigned, unsworn declaration of 1,519 miles in medically-related driving, asserting a mileage rate of 48.5¢ per mile, for a total mileage claim of $814.06.
  The employee submitted receipts for prescription medications, including an addition of 10.5% interest apparently because the medications were purchased using a credit card, stating a total claim for prescription medications of $389.12.  Included in this claim was a prescription for $45 for Wellbutrin that appears to have been for the claimant’s husband.
  The employee also submitted documentation of miscellaneous medical expenses to providers totaling $77.07.

VII.
THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

A. TTD from September 16, 2004 through November 9, 2005
The employee asserts that she experienced no prior back injuries, other than minor muscle strains, prior to the date of injury.  She attributes all of her pain symptoms to the July 25, 2003 incident, or from falls experienced after that incident during back spasms that she attributes to the July 25 incident.  She agrees with Dr. McIntosh’s assessments as to medical stability.

The employer argues on the strength of the medical specialists’ reports, beginning with Dr. Stump’s report after his examination of the employee on September 16, 2004, that the employee experienced only a temporary strain of her back, which should have resolved no later than September 16, 2004.
   The employer argues that each of the medical specialists (orthopedists, neurologists, pain management specialists) have found no objective evidence to support the employee’s reports of continuing pain.

B. Medical benefits from September 16, 2004 through November 9, 2005

The position of the parties on medical benefits is that same as that for TTD benefits.  The employer argues the employee is not entitled to further medical benefits beyond September 6, 2004.  On the employee’s claims of out-of-pocket medical expenses, after some exchange between the parties regarding the employee’s place of residence, the employer agreed to accept the employee’s characterization of 1,519 miles in medically-related auto travel,
 and the employee agreed to accept a compromise rate of 37.5¢ per mile in lieu of a complicated calculation of mileage based on different mileage rates under the Board’s schedules.

C. PPI benefits 

The employer relies upon the medical specialists’ report, especially those of Drs. McDermott, Johnston, and Stump, that the employee has shown no permanent partial impairment as a result of the workplace injury.  The employee does not disagree with the 5% PPI rating, but argues her permanent impairment is work-related, therefore entitling her to a lump sum payment for permanent partial impairment. 

D. Penalties under AS 23.30.155(e)

The employer’s position is that no further penalties are due under AS 23.30.155(e) because the employee was medically stable on or before September 6, 2004, and that further benefits are not payable after that date.  The employer filed a notice of controversion on a Board form, dated October 5, 2004, filed on October 11, 2004, that specifically relied upon the September 16, 2004 report of Dr. Stump.  The employee claims any penalties payable under the statute, without any greater elaboration as to the basis for penalties.

E. Interest under AS 23.30.155(p)

The employer’s position is that no interest is due under AS 23.30.155(p) because the employee was medically stable on or before September 6, 2004, and that further benefits are not payable after that date.  The employee claims any payable interest under the statute.

F. Employee’s claim of unfair and frivolous controversion

The employer argues that its controversion of benefits on and after September 2004 was based on medical evidence, including the opinions of the medical specialists summarized above.  The employee’s argument on this claim appears to be that because she disagrees with the employee’s position, that therefore the controversion must have been unfair and frivolous.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.
TTD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

In defining medical stability, AS 23.30.395(21) states medical stability:

…means the date after which further objectively measureable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

The employee claims TTD benefits for her back injury from September 16, 2004, the date of controversion of TTD benefits, until Dr. McIntosh opined the employee had reached medical stability.  The Pre-hearing Conference Summaries recite the date of medical stability to be alleged by the employee to be November 9, 2005, but the evidence of record is clear that Dr. McIntosh opined the employee reached medical stability on October 5, 2005.

 The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80 percent of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  In the instant case, the employer denied the employee was entitled TTD benefits subsequent to September 14, 2004 and terminated TTD payments on or about October 5, 2004.  The employee testified concerning her work injury, its consequences, and her inability to return to work.  We find the documentary medical record contains medical opinions of the employee’s treating physicians indicating the employee suffered significant restrictions due to a work-related back injury, which rendered her unable to return to work and resulted in permanent impairment.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for continuing TTD benefits.  We find the claimant's testimony and the medical treatment records of Drs. McIntosh, Thiele, Carlson, and Eule are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her work injury prevented her from working from July 28, 2003 until October 5, 2005, and that the employee is entitled to TTD benefits for that period of time.  

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

In the second stage of the presumption analysis, we find that the employer has adduced substantial evidence to support its position that medical stability in this case, contrary to the employee’s treating physician’s opinion, was reached on or before September 14, 2004.  Dr. Stump was very clear in his opinion that medical stability had been reached by the time he examined the employee on September 14, 2004.  SIME physician Dr. McDermott went even further, and opined that he could not substantiate that the July 25, 2003 episode was a causative, aggravating or accelerating factor in the employee’s chronic back and left hip symptoms.  This opinion is also sufficient to rebut the employee’s claim for TTD benefits beyond September 14, 2004.  We find Dr. Stump’s and Dr. McDermott’s opinions, viewed (as they must be) in isolation, are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 14, 2004 until October 5, 2005.

Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, we have reviewed the entire medical and hearing record in this case to determine whether the employee has proven her claim, that she is entitled to TTD benefits from September 14, 2004 to November 9, 2005, by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find that the employee’s entitlement to additional TTD benefits from September 14, 2004 through October 5, 2005 is proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

There is clear, objective medical evidence to support the employee’s subjective reports of pain, and her linking of that pain to the episode of July 25, 2003, including:

· Observed contusion on the employee’s right leg on July 28, 2003;

· Positive straight leg test observed by Dr. Carlson on August 8, 2003; by Dr. Thiele on December 30, 2003; by Dr. McIntosh on June 17, 2005;

· Dr. Thiele’s observation of muscle spasm on March 8, 2004, PT Coston’s observation of muscle spasm on July 9, 2004; EMT Prior’s observation of muscle spasm on July 29, 2004; Dr. McIntosh’s observation of muscle spasm on March 13, 2006

· Saddle anesthesia observed on July 29, 2004;

· Dr. Carlson’s and Dr. Thiele’s repeated observation in chart notes of lack of exaggerated pain behavior;

· Dr. Carlson’s observed deep tendon reflex deficit on August 11, 2003;

· Lumbar MRI report on August 20, 2003, showing annular tear at L4-5 with disc bulging “or contained disk herniation” and disc bulging at L5-S1, confirmed in follow up MRIs on July 29, 2004 and April 18, 2005, including evidence of ligamentous and facet hypertrophy bilaterally in the July 29, 2004 study;

· X-ray reports of July 28, 2003, May 17, 2004, April 19, 2005, and December 16, 2005 showing disc space narrowing at L4-5 and L5-S1

· The employee observed “in obvious pain” by Dr. Thiele on August 28, 2003 and in “moderate distress” on July 29, 2004; by EMTs on September 27, 2005, found “slightly bent over in obvious pain” and had “one severe episode of pain” en route to the hospital;

· Dr. McIntosh’s observation of “definite numbness to pinprick in the L4 distribution in both legs” and reduced rectal tone on April 18, 2005

The consultive examination by orthopedist Dr. Eule is consistent with the observations and findings of the employee’s treating physicians that a disc herniation at L5-S1 was the source of the employee’s pain symptoms.  Dr. Eule’s report clearly states: “[a] component of her pain is from these disc herniations but there is nothing that I could do surgically for her that could change the symptoms that she is having except for possibly her left leg pain and certainly I do not think we are even close to that at this time.”  What Dr. Eule noted was that he found insufficient evidence of compression in the employee’s spinal canal to cause the reported bowel and bladder symptoms, and the employee at that time was not a surgical candidate based on her presentation at that time.  We note the frequent recitation in the medical record to the employee as a 1-pack per day smoker, who struggled with obesity.  We note these are two factors that may render a person not a viable candidate for back surgery.
  Thus Dr. Eule’s opinion was not that the employee was a malingerer or faking her symptoms, but that she was not a candidate for surgery at that time, and that spinal compression did not appear to be the cause of her stress urinary incontinence. 

We find that the conclusion of the employee’s treating physicians, that the employee’s condition is work-related, that the workplace injury prevented the employee from returning to work as a waitress or any other work, and that medical instability continued until October 5, 2005, is supported by objective evidence.  We find that the examinations and record reviews by Drs. Stump, Green, Johnston, and McDermott,
 in drawing their conclusion of a lack of objective evidence to substantiate the employee’s subjective complaints of continuing medical instability beyond September 16, 2004, are flawed in their failure to take note of the treating providers’ direct observations of indicia of pain, and (at least as expressly discussed by Dr. McDermott) the apparent failure to attribute those observations as objective evidence to be given weight.  

Only Dr. McDermott was candid about this, in his deposition:

Q
What objective evidence then after the exam did you consider prior to your evaluation?

A
Just my own findings.

Q 
Your own findings?  You do not – excuse me – you did not – is what you’re saying – you did not consider the objective evidence by 11 physicians I’d seen prior to you besides?

A
Oh, yes.  Yes.  I looked for their objective findings, yes.

Q
Okay.

A
You realize that technically that’s all subjective to me, because I’m having to take their word for it.

* * *

Q
My question is, How do you not have – how did my symptoms beside diagnosis according to two and a half years of documented physical, objective evidence according to my symptomology and my injury?

A
One has to go back to a – I think maybe the lawyer here could answer this part of the question better than I.  There is a qualification that I have to be able to objectively – I was asked what could I objectively find wrong with you.  And I had to tell them I couldn’t because objective evidence is things you can measure, see, or identify that has no input from your history.  They are findings.  In other words, I guess the way that I explain this to the doctors in training, objective findings are, you say you had an accident with your car.  That’s your story.  The objective finding is the dent in your fender.  Okay?  So you have to be able to see, feel, or – something.  The objective might be that the bumper’s gone.

Q
I understand, I guess.

A
So that’s an objective finding.  So I didn’t have any objective findings is what I’m saying in that paragraph.

Q
So you did not have both MRI reports for my back injury that listed – actually there was actually an X-ray from 2000?

A 
Yes.  They’re asking about my objective physical findings on the question they posed to me.

* * *

Q
Okay.  So you don’t believe that the injury was a substantiating factor that caused the injury?

A
Subjectively it is; objectively, I can’t document that it is.  And that’s what they’re asking me.

Dr. McDermott’s overly limited definition of objective evidence, as being only that which he himself has observed, was not corrected by counsel during the deposition, or otherwise, even though the instructions for the SIME state that the SIME physician is to “use the standard of a ‘reasonable degree of medical probability.’ ”
  This standard, although not coextensive, is very near to the standard of Rule 703, Alaska Rule of Evidence, that the facts or data relied upon in forming an expert opinion “must be of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field.”  Thus while we are not required to exclude evidence that fails to meet the standard of Rule 703,
 we give lesser weight to the expert opinions that fail to consider and address objective medical evidence, as here, that does meet that standard and that also supports the contrary opinions of the employee’s treating physicians.
  

Dr. McDermott’s limited definition of “objective findings” despite the instruction to reach his opinions based on a degree of medical probability, unreasonably excluded the observed findings of treatment providers and medical professionals.  The accuracy of the observations of treating providers must be relied upon for treatment and diagnosis, and we find those findings meet the Rule 703 standard for the basis of expert opinions.  These findings are therefore competent under the lower standard of admissibility of this proceeding.  Dr. McDermott’s failure to give any weight to these observations severely undercuts our confidence in his opinions in this case.  

Similarly, the failure of the other specialists, with the exception of Dr. Eule, to address the objective observations of other providers in their reports or assessments also weakens our view of their opinions.  We find that the opinions of the employee’s treating physicians, particularly Dr. Thiele, Snowder, and McIntosh, who had the opportunity to observe and assess the employee over a long period of time and many treatment examinations, and thus had a more complete opportunity to evaluate the employee’s subjective reports of pain, are entitled to greater weight in this case.  We also give greater weight to the treating providers because of their evaluation of the employee’s subjective complaints of pain, to which the treating providers responded by providing varying doses and combinations of pain medications, in an effort to conservatively treat the employee’s intractable pain with pharmacotherapy.   We find their opinions that the employee’s condition was caused by the episode at the work place is supported by substantial, objective evidence. 

We also note that the medical specialists appear to have been influenced by a potentially confounding factor of the employee’s report of urinary incontinence in the absence of sufficient spinal cord compression to suggest early cauda equina syndrome.
  There are other plausible reasons in the employee’s medical history for the urinary incontinence that may have been triggered or exacerbated by the work place injury.  Rather than rejecting out of hand the employee’s subjective reports of pain and muscle spasm due to a potentially confounding factor, the correct approach is that of Dr. Eule, who suggested a urologist consultation.  We also find the mention of the potential diagnosis of piriformis entrapment syndrome, and Dr. Johnston’s discussion of the potential for chemical radiculitis, without any meaningful discussion by either Dr. Johnston or the employer’s medical examiners of what tests, procedures or treatments might help rule out these conditions, causes us to give these examiners’ opinions lesser weight.  For these reasons, we discount the opinions of the specialists (with the exception of Dr. Eule, who actually finds a medical basis for the employee’s pain complaints) as to work-relatedness and veracity of the employee’s pain complaints.

For the forgoing reasons, we find that the opinions of the employee’s treating providers are to be given substantially more weight than the medical specialists Drs. Duddy, Stump, Green, Johnston, and McDermott.  We find the preponderance of the medical evidence supports the finding that the employee’s low back condition was caused by the conditions of employment on July 25, 2003, that condition prevented the employee from returning to her past work as a waitress and from performing any work, and that condition was not medically stable until October 5, 2005.  Accordingly, we awards additional TTD benefits to the employee for the time period from September 14, 2004 to October 5, 2005. 

We applied the presumption analysis, as outlined above, to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 14, 2004 until November 9, 2005.  Additionally, AS 23.30.185 limits the duration of TTD benefits to the date of medical stability as defined in AS 23.30.395(21).  The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, the Alaska Supreme Court  held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, we conclude the employer must show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.
  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.
  We find, by a preponderance of the evidence, and particularly based upon Dr. McIntosh’s opinions that are supported by the medical evidence, that the employee did not reach medical stability after the July 25, 2003 injury until October 5, 2005.  

II. MEDICAL BENEFITS, INCLUDING OUT-OF-POCKET MEDICALLY-RELATED EXPENSES:
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires. . . .

AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in part:  

In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .  

AS 23.30.395(26) provides:

“medical and related benefits” includes, but is not limited to physicians’ fees, nurses’ charges, hospital services, hospital supplies, medicine and prosthetic devices, physical rehabilitation, and treatment for the fitting and training for use of such devices as may reasonably be required which arises out of or is necessitated by an injury, and transportation charges to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available.

As noted above, the Alaska Supreme Court in Meek v. Unocal Corp. instructs that the presumption of compensability is applicable to each claim for compensation.
  In Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, the Court held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment for disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.

Having found above in the employee’s favor on her claim for TTD benefits, we find using the same analysis that the employee’s claim for medical benefits is supported.  Beyond the general argument that the employee’s condition is not work-related, and lacks objective indicia to support her reports of pain, the employer does not dispute the reasonableness or necessity of any particular medical procedure or expense incurred by the employee.  Accordingly, we find the employer has admitted the reasonableness and necessity of these procedures, having failed to file a controversion specifically disputing any particular treatment or procedure.

The parties have not briefed or argued with specificity the compensability of the cholecystectomy performed at CPGH on or about May 16, 2005.  We did not note medical records that specifically linked this procedure, and the employee’s condition leading up to it, to the employee’s workplace injury.  This decision and order does not find compensable the employee’s gall bladder condition, including the cholecystectomy procedure, and all services leading up to and after the procedure.  On the other hand, this decision does not find these medical services and expenses to be non-compensable, either.  

To the extent the parties disagree on the compensability of the expenses relating to the employee’s gall bladder condition, including the cholecystectomy at CPGH on or about May 16, 2005, diagnostic procedures (including ultrasound) leading up to that procedure, and pre- and post-procedure office visits relating to the employee’s gall bladder condition, we reserve jurisdiction to resolve any continuing dispute.  The parties are directed to file a petition for modification and affidavit for hearing on that issue, or by other petition as the parties see fit, when they believe the issue is ready for presentation to us for resolution. 

With regard to out-of-pocket medically-related expenses, we find that there is a dispute about some of those expenses.  The employee, following our prompting, has provided a breakdown of her out-of-pocket medically-related expenses as follows:






Mileage
$   814.06






Pharmacy
     389.12






Misc Medical
       77.07  


Total, out-of-pocket medical:


$ 1,280.25

The employer disputes the compensability of all of these claimed out-of-pocket expenses to the extent incurred after September 16, 2004 on the basis of its original controversion.  The employer also objects to a $45 charge for Wellbutrin for a prescription for Timothy Koerber, not the employee, but otherwise raises no objection to the Rx charges.  

The employer initially disputed the mileage claim based on the employee’s reported address.
  We note that medical records in the case identify the employee’s home address as 47498 Tagala Avenue in Soldotna as early as March 15, 2005,
 although as pointed out by the employer’s counsel, the employee has consistently listed a Kenai post office box as her mailing address for service throughout this proceeding.  The employer also points out the mileage rates change over time, citing to two Bulletins of the Board.  The employee replies that she advised the insurer of her change of home address on or about October 13, 2003, and that she will accept 37.5¢ per mile in lieu of a complicated calculation using the Board’s ever-changing mileage rates.  The employer’s counsel, once clarified on the employee’s home address, no longer disputes the mileage amounts claimed.

We find that the employee has presented sufficient documentation to support her claim for additional, medically-related out-of-pocket expenses, with the exception of the $45 charge for Wellbutrin.  Accordingly, our order will award the employee as follows for medically-related out-of-pocket expenses:

Mileage
$   569.63






Pharmacy
     344.12






Misc Medical
       77.07  


Total, out-of-pocket medical:

$    990.82

III.  PPI BENEFITS
At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. . . .  The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041. . . .

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

(c)  The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment, which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
    Dr. McIntosh noted that the employee’s lumbar, hip and leg symptoms arose with her work injury, and persisted thereafter.  Although there is evidence of the employee’s pre-existing addiction to alcohol and cannabis, as well as major depression, the evidence is clear that the employee’s use of pain medications, particular large-scale reliance on opioids, began after the July 25, 2003 work-related incident.  Dr. McIntosh opined that the employee sustained a permanent, work-related impairment which permanently precluded the employee from returning to her former work.
   Dr. Johnston, a pain management specialist who performed a PPI rating, found that the employee met DRE Category II, with a 5% impairment, without expressing an opinion as to causation.  Dr. McDermott expressed a lack of evidence, in his opinion, of a workplace-caused condition, but did not dispute Dr. Johnston’s 5% impairment  rating.
  Dr. Stump similarly opined a 5% PPI rating, but opined the impairment was pre-existing and not caused by work-related conditions.

Following the same compensability analysis as recited above for TTD and medical benefits, we find that the October 5, 2005 opinion of Dr. McIntosh of permanent impairment, coupled with the March 16, 2006 5% PPI rating of Dr. Johnston, is sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) for the employee’s claim for PPI benefits.

At the second stage of the compensability analysis, Drs. McDermott’s and Stump’s opinion that the employee’s permanent impairment is not work-related is sufficient to meet the employer’s burden.  We find the opinions of Drs. McDermott and Stump, taken in isolation, are substantial evidence that the employee's July 25, 2003 injury was a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition, resulting in no permanent impairment as a result of workplace conditions.

Consequently, the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  In this case, we find much more persuasive the October 5, 2005 opinion of Dr. McIntosh, supported by the objective observations of herself and other treatment providers that preceded her, that the July 25, 2003 work injury created a substantially different situation in the employee’s lumbar spine, hips and legs than was present prior to the work injury.  We find this is consistent with the employee’s treatment records, and consistent with the employee’s testimony.  We find the employee is credible with regard to her description of the injury, the absence of lumbar pain with radicular symptoms before July 25, 2003, her description of the continuing pain after the July 25, 2003 episode, and the absence of the employee’s extensive need for use of pain medications prior to that date.
  We find no evidence of a PPI rating of the employee’s condition before her work injury.  By the preponderance of the available evidence, we find that the employee experienced a ratable PPI of 5% of the whole person, and is entitled to PPI benefits under 
AS 23.30.190 corresponding to that rating. 

III.
PENALTIES
AS 23.30.155 provides in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days . . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.  If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .

In the instant case, the employee does not state a legal basis for her claim for a penalty under
AS 23.30.155. We find that the employer filed and served a controversion under
AS 23.30.155(d), based on the medical reports of its physicians.  We find therefore that no penalty is due under that statute.  The employee’s claim for penalty under AS 23.30.155(e) shall be denied and dismissed.

III.
INTEREST
AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.
  Alaska’s courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on the unpaid PPI benefit awarded by this decision, from the date on which the benefit was due.  For us to award interest at the rate paid by the employee to a credit card company would result in a double recovery on interest.  Accordingly, we deny an award of “interest” as part of the employee’s claim for out-of-pocket expenses.  The Board reserves jurisdiction to calculate interest at the applicable statutory rates, to the extent the parties cannot agree on interest calculated on the unpaid TTD, medical benefits (including out-of-pocket medically-related expenses), and PPI awarded below.

IV.    Unfair / frivolous controversion:

We next consider the employee’s claim that the employer’s controversion was frivolous and unfair.  In Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty… For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

We have previously applied the court’s reasoning in Harp and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  We have consistently required an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.
   Here, we find the employer controverted based upon the opinions of Dr. Stump.  We find, under the facts presented, that the employer had specific and substantial evidence upon which to base its controversion.  Therefore, we conclude the employer’s controversion was neither frivolous nor unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).

V.   Employee’s claim for costs of litigation:
8 AAC 45.180(f) provides, in pertinent part:

The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  .  .  .  The following costs will, in the board’s discretion, be awarded to an applicant:

*  *  *

(2) court reporter fees and costs of obtaining deposition transcripts;

*  *  *

(17) other costs as determined by the board.

The employee has submitted, as part of her claim for out-of-pocket medical costs, costs that are more appropriately characterized as litigation expenses, to wit: cost to obtain the transcript of deposition of Dr. McDermott ($171) and costs for mailing by UPS ($38.86).  We find that the employee is the prevailing party on the issues for which these costs were incurred, and accordingly will exercise its discretion to include in its award to the employee a total of $209.96 in litigation costs.


ORDER

1. The employee is awarded additional TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185 for the period September 14, 2004 to October 5, 2005, at the compensation rate to which the parties have agreed.
2. The employee is awarded additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a), including $990.82 for medically-related out-of-pocket medical expenses, after September 14, 2004, with the exception of services and treatment related to a cholecystectomy performed on May 16, 2005.  The Board reserves jurisdiction to determine the compensability of the services and treatment related to the May 16, 2005 cholecystectomy, to the extent the parties are unable to agree on the compensability of those medical costs.
3. The employer shall pay the employee PPI benefits, under AS 23.30.090, based on a five percent (5.0%) whole-person rating under the AMA Guides.
3. The employee’s claim for penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) is denied and dismissed.

4. The employee is awarded interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on the late-paid TTD, medical benefits (including out-of-pocket medically-related expenses) and PPI benefits awarded in this decision, from date that compensation was due.  The Board reserves jurisdiction to determine interest payable, to the extent the parties are unable to agree on the interest calculation. 

5. The employee’s claim alleging unfair and frivolous controversion is denied and dismissed.

6. The employee is awarded $209.96 in litigation costs. 

Dated at Juneau, Alaska on November ___, 2007.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� AWCB Dec. No. 07-0205 (July 17, 2007).


� See Pre-hearing Conference Summaries, defining the issues in dispute, dated Feb. 7, 2007.  The employee’s claim also raised the issues of an SIME (resolved by Dr. McDermott’s SIME, performed on Sept. 18, 2006), and for a compensation rate adjustment, resolved by the parties.  Stipulation Regarding Compensation Rate �(filed June 4, 2007).


� Deposition of Dorothy L. Koerber, at page 49 (hereinafter, “Koerber Depo.”).


� Id. at pages 50-51.


� J. Kasukonis, D.O., Emergency Dept. Note, CPGH (Dec. 3, 2000)(Exhibit C to Employer’s Hearing Brief; in medical summary filed August 26, 2005); [Author unidentified], Kenai Fire Department (Dec. 3, 2000)(recording employee’s report of pain in lower back and numbness in left foot).. 


� M. McVee, MD, Reports of X-ray of the lumbar spine, pelvis, and sacrum-coccyx, CPGH (Dec. 3, 2000)(Exhibit C to Employer’s Hearing Brief; in medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� J. Kasukonis, D.O., Emergency Dept. Note, CPGH, at page 2 (Dec. 3, 2000)(in medical summary filed August 26, 2005).


� G. Fraser, MD, progress notes (Jan. 24 and 29, 2002); M. McVee, MD, X-ray Report, CPGH (Jan. 24, 2002)(medical summary filed Feb. 27, 2006 and Aug. 9, 2005).


� E.g., Exhibit 2 to Koerber Depo. (listing Alaska workers’ compensation reports of injury files).


� Koerber Depo. at pages 8-9; 49-51.


� The employee’s weight is reported at 212 lbs. on July 31, 2003, eight days after the date of injury.  R.L. Carlson, MD, Progress Notes (July 31, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� D. Koerber, Health Questionnaire (Mar. 15, 2005), at page 6 (number of children) and page 9 (number of pregnancies)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005); J.N. Randa, ANP, Psychiatric Evaluation, Central Peninsula Counseling Services (Dec. 21, 2004) at pages 1-2 (listing pregnancies and children under Social History).


� E.g., N. Magen, DO, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (May 17, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005)(reciting gynecological history).


� RMSF is a potentially lethal bacterial (species Rickettsia rickettsii) infection, with the usual vector being a tick bite, reported to be successfully treated with certain antibiotics.   RMSF can have neurological effects depending on duration and severity of infection.  Long-term sequellae of RMSF can include urinary and bowel incontinence, peripheral neuropathy, hearing loss, and cerebellar, vestibular and motor dysfunction.  L.K. Archibald and D.J. Sexton, Long-Term Sequellae of Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever, 20 Clin. Infect. Dis. 1122-25 (May 1995), abstracted at � HYPERLINK "http://www.pubmed.gov" �www.pubmed.gov� (printout filed Oct. 3, 2007); Y. Shaked, Rickettsial Infection of the Central Nervous System: the Role of Prompt Antimicrobial Therapy 288 Quart. J. Med. 301-306, at 302 (Apr. 1991)(summarizing neurological sequellae)(printout filed Oct. 3, 2007).


� E.g., J.S. Magee, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation, at page 1 (Nov. 8, 2002)(reporting that Ms. Koerber “believes that she has been depressed all of her adult life.”)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005); J.N Randa, RN, ANP; K. Sellers, PhD.; and J.S. Magee, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation, Comprehensive Mental Health Assessment, and Progress Notes,  Family Behavioral Health Center (Oct. 24, 2002 through May 22, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005)(describing treatment for major depression and alcohol dependency);  Koerber Depo., at page 104 (admitting to being “pickled with alcohol abuse” in the early 1990s and to a 25-year habit of cannabis use, which she did not quit until approximately December 2004 in order to comply with a pain contract with Dr. McIntosh).  See also selected behavioral health chart notes contained in medical summary filed Feb. 1, 2006).


� [Provider signature unclear], Mental Health Contact, CPGH (dated June 3, 2003)(medical summary filled Feb. 1, 2006).


� J.N. Randa, ANP, Psychiatric Evaluation, Central Peninsula Counseling Services, page 1 (Dec. 21, 2004); J.S. McGee, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation, Family Behavioral Health Center, page 1 (Nov. 8, 2002)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005.


� Koerber Depo. at 51, lines 17-20.


� E.g., C. Doser, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (July 28, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Deposition of D. Koerber, at page 30-33.


� The employee testified that she had previously been employed by the Lodge, and had returned to employment after resigning from her position with the Alaska DHSS, Division of Public Assistance.  She was initially engaged as a temporary, part-time waitress, to cover for another waitress who was pregnant and due to deliver.  After delivery, that other worker decided not to return to work at the Lodge, and the employee testified her job became a permanent engagement.  Hours varied due to the demand for extra staffing of special events, with greater activity at the Lodge in the summertime.  No witness was called to refute this testimony.  Koerber Depo. at 41-42 (circumstances of resignation from State job); at 60-61, 65-66 (describing transition from temporary to permanent status, and regularity of work hours depending on employer’s needs).


� Koerber Depo. at pages 70-71.


� Koerner Depo. at pages 72-86.


� Koerner Depo. at pages 87-90.


� Koerner Depo. at page 90.


� Koerner Depo. at pages 90-91.


� Koerner Depo. at page


� P.J. Tucker, RN, ED Triage Admission Assessment, CPGH (July 28, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).  References herein to medical summaries are to the date of filing by the Board, as shown by our receipt stamp usually on the first page of the medical summary.


� D. Rigby, MD, Lumbar Spine X-ray Report (dated July 28, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� C. Doser, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (July 28, 2003)(Exhibit B to the Employer’s Hearing Brief; also in medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� Radiculopathy is defined as a disease of the roots of the spinal nerves.  Gould Med. Dict. at 1148 (4th ed. 1979).  One of the EME physicians, Dr. Stump, defined the term as meaning neurological deficit in the distribution of a nerve root.  Deposition of W.J. Stump, MD, at 36, lines 17-19 (May 25, 2007)(hereinafter, “Dr. Stump Depo.”).


� R.L. Carlson, MD, Progress Notes (July 31, 2003)(Exhibit D to the Employer’s Hearing Brief; medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).  The copies of this chart note in both the medical summary and in Exhibit D of the Employer’s Hearing Brief are both incomplete, appearing to be missing the last page, but the provider is identified as Dr. Carlson by the notation at the beginning of the progress note “RLC:”.


� Letter, R.L. Carlson, MD “To Whom it May Concern,” (dated July 31, 2003)(medical summary filed Jan. 17, 2006).


� R.L. Carlson, MD, Progress notes (Aug. 8, 2003)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).  The copy of this chart note is incomplete, appearing to be missing the last page, but the provider is identified as Dr. Carlson by the notation at the beginning of the progress note “RLC:”.


� See id. (bearing facsimile transmission notations indicating transmission on August 8, 2003 at 1:20 pm).


� K.M. Shine, RN, Progress Notes (Aug. 8, 2003)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� R.L. Carlson, MD, Progress Notes (Aug. 11, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� D.K. Rigby, MD, Report of MRI Imaging, CPGH (Aug. 20, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Testimony of D. Koerber; see also Deposition of W. J. Stump, MD, at pages 34-35 (cross-examination by Ms. Koerber regarding effect of inability of patient to lay still during MRI);  


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Aug. 28, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Sept. 3, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Sept. 19, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Testimony of D. Koerber; D. Koerber, Brief at page 2 (filed May 18, 2007).


� See description of Dr. Eule’s findings in the section below encaptioned “Specialist Medical Reports.”


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Nov. 11, 2003)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� D.K. Rigby, MD, Report of Diagnostic Imaging, MRI of Lower Ext[remity] Joint (left and right)(Dec. 12, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Dec. 30, 2003)(medical summary filed Feb. 19, 2004 and Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (Feb. 26, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).  In a contemporaneous intake questionnaire for Dr. Snowder, the employee noted she was also prescribed Paxil and Neurotin for depression.  D. Koerber, Intake Questionnaire (for C.M. Snowder, DC)(Mar. 3, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Letter, K.E. Thiele, DO to Medicenter (dated Feb. 26, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� [Provider name unreadable], Initial Physical Therapy Evaluation, Frontier Physical Therapy (Mar. 3, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� C.M. Snowder, DC, Interview and exam notes (Mar. 3, 2004) and Physician’s Report (Mar. 4, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� C.M. Snowder, DC, Physican’s Report (Mar. 4, 2004), at blocks 12, 20, and 22 (medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Chart note (Mar. 8, 2004)(medical summary filed Mar. 26, 2004).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Chart note (Apr. 6, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).  Avinza is an extended-release formulation of morphine sulfate.  See http://www.rxlist.com/cgi/generic/avinza.htm 


� C.M. Snowder, DC, Physician’s Report (chart notes dated Apr. 5 and 7,  2004) (medical summary filed Aug. 9 and Sept. 15, 2004).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated Apr. 6, 2004)(medical summary filed May 5, 2004).


� A duplicate of the chart notes for the CPGH treatment on May 17, 2004 appears to be contained in medical summaries filed on August 26, 2005 and Oct. 19, 2005.  Citations that follow are to the August 26, 2005 summary unless otherwise noted.


� M. McVee, MD, CT Report of Head without Contrast (dated May 17, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� M. McVee, MD, X-ray Report, Right Shoulder, Cervical, Thoracic and Lumbar Spine (dated May 17, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� N. Magen, DO, CPGH Emergency Department Note, Prescriptions (May 17, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated May 29, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated June 29, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DO, Progress Notes (July 6, 2004)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� J. Coston, PT, D. Hansen, PT, Progress Notes, Frontier Physical Therapy (July 9, 12, 14, 16, and 21, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� J. Coston, PT, Discharge Summary, Frontier Physical Therapy (Aug. 27, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005); J. Coston, PT, Progress Report, Frontier Physical Therapy (Aug. 9, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2004).


� Letter, K.E. Thiele, DC to J. Lee, Medicenter (dated July 28, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated July 29, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 13, 2004).  A duplicate of Dr. Thieles, the Kenai Fire Department, and the CPGH records for the July 29, 2004 treatment appears to be duplicated in the Oct. 19, 2005 medical summaries; citations hereafter are to the Aug. 9, 2005 medical summary except where otherwise indicated.


� A.D. Prior, EMT III, Transport Notes, Kenai Fire Dept. (July 29, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� R. Martinez, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (July 29, 2004)(medical summaries filed Aug. 9 and Aug. 26, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated Aug. 24, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated Sept. 8, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated Sept. 22, 2004)(medical summaries filed Aug. 9, 2005 and Sept. 24, 2004).


� K.E. Thiele, DC, Progress notes (dated Oct. 14, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� C.M. Snowder, DC, Physician’s Report (chart notes dated Oct. 14, 2004)(medical summary filed Oct. 18, 2004).


� [Provider signature unclear], Mental Health Contact, CPGH (Dec. 11, 2004)(medical summary filed Feb. 1, 2004).


� [Provider signature unclear], Mental Health Contact, CPGH (Dec. 13, 2004)(medical summary filed Feb.1, 2006).


� M. Pellicciaro, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation, Providence Alaska Medical Center (Dec. 13, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� D.C. Smith, MD, Medical Consultation, Providence Alaska Medical Center (Dec. 15, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� M. Pellicciaro, MD, Discharge Summary, Providence Alaska Medical Center (Dec. 20, 2004)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� J.N. Randa, ANP, Psychiatric Evaluation, Central Peninsula Counseling Services (Dec. 21, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005)


� N. Magen, DM, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (Jan. 5, 2005)(medical summary filed May 30, 2006).


� D.K. Rigby, MD, NM Bone Scan – Whole Body, CPGH Diagnostic Imaging (Apr. 11, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� Aka meperidine with promethazine, this a mixture of a narcotic and an anti-nausea medication, used to treat moderate to severe pain.  See http://www.drugs.com/mtm/mepergan-fortis.html.


� N. Magen, DO, Emergency Department Note, Prescriptions and Discharge Instructions, CPGH (Apr. 15, 2005)(medical summaries filed Aug. 26, 2005 and Oct. 19, 2005).


� Most if not all of the medical records fo the April 18-21 and April 24-25, 2005 admissions at CPGH appear duplicate in the medical summaries filed on August 26, 2005 and October 19, 2005.  Further reference is made only to those records contained in the summary filed on August 26, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Note, CPGH (Apr. 19, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� K. Sizemore, RN, Admission Assessment, CPGH (Apr. 18, 2005) at page 1, Neurological/Musculoskeletal Assessment (medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Note, CPGH (Apr. 19, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. McVee, MD, Report of MRI of Spine Lumbar w/o Contrast (Apr. 18, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005); 


� M. McVee, MD, Report of Rad[iology] Lumbar Spine – 3 Views – Limited (Apr. 19, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Discharge Summary, Discharge Instructions, CPGH (Apr. 21, 2005) (medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. Blair, PT, Physical Therapy Initial Evaluation (Apr. 25, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Discharge Summary, CPGH (Apr. 25, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Emergency Department Note (May 11, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 3, 2005); see also M. McIntosh, MD, Letter of Referral (May 4, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 3, 2005).


� R.S. Chennault, MD, Operative Note, CPGH (May 16, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� C. Buchholz, MD, Pathology Report (May 16, 2005)(medical summary filed Mar. 6, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Note (June 2, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 3, 2005).


� [Physician not identified], Emergency Department Note, CPGH (Jun. 9, 2005)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� This is a certification as an addiction counselor.  See: http://naadac.org/documents/display.php?DocumentID=19.


� P. Merwin, NCAC II, Progress Note (June 9, 2005)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Note (June 17, 2005)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Letter of Referral (July 6, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 3, 2005).


� P. Merwin, NCAC II, Chart Note (July 7, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 3, 2005)


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Note (Aug. 2, 2005)(medical summary filed Aug. 22, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Physican’s Report, Blocks 22, 32, 33, and 44 (dated Aug. 2, 2002 [sic 2005])(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� L. Quelland, EMTP, Pre-Hospital Patient Care Report, Kenai Fire Dept. (Sept. 27, 2005)(medical summary  filed Sept. 27, 2005).


� N. Magen, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (Sept. 27, 2005); M. McVee, MD, Rad[iology] Shoulder 2+ Views Right (Sept. 27, 2005)(medical summary filed Apr. 27, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Physician’s Report and Chart notes (Oct. 5, 2005)(filed Nov. 28, 2005).


� M. McIntosh, MD,  Chart notes (Aug. 2, 2005; Oct. 5, 2005; Nov. 7, 2005; Nov. 11, 2005; Dec. 2, 2005; Dec. 16, 2005; Dec. 27, 2005; Dec. 31, 2005; Jan. 31, 2006)(medical summaries filed Oct. 19, 2005; Nov. 3, 2005; Nov. 28, 2005; Jan. 20, 2006; Feb. 10, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Letter of Referral (Nov. 11, 2005)(medical summary filed Feb. 10, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Chart notes (Dec. 16, 2005)(medical summary filed Jan. 20, 2006); H. Smith, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (Dec. 15, 2005)(medical summary filed Feb. 10, 2006); C. Doser, MD, Emergency Department Note, CPGH (Dec. 5, 2005)(medical summary filed Feb. 10, 2006 and Apr. 27, 2006). 


� M. McIntosh, MD, Chart notes (Dec. 16, 2005); D.K. Rigby, MD, CT Pelvis w/o Contrast, Diagnostic Imaging, CPGH (Dec. 16, 2005)(medical summary filed Feb. 10, 2006); D.K. Rigby, MD, Ras[iology] Sacrum and Coccyx – Complete and Rad[iology] Lumbar Spine – 3 Views – Limited (Dec. 15, 2006)(medical summary filed Apr. 27, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Report (Jan. 31, 2006)(medical summary filed July 24, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Report (Mar. 13, 2006)(medical summary filed May 30, 2006 and July 17, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Progress Report (Apr. 22, 2006)(medical summary filed May 30, 2006).


� M. McIntosh, MD, Physician’s Report (May 17, 2007).


� The Board takes administrative notice of Dr. Duddy’s specialty as an orthopedic surgeon, as indicated by his membership as a Fellow of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons.  See http://www6.aaos.org/about/�public/memfind.cfm.


� The employee underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine on August 20, 2003.  See note 38 and accompanying text, supra, discussing MRI report.


� J.T. Duddy, MD, Chart Note (Oct. 13, 2003)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� J.T.Duddy, MD, Chart Note (Oct. 13, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005); J.T. Duddy, MD, Rx for MRI of  bilateral hips (dated Oct. 27, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005); J.T. Duddy, MD, Rx for MRI of Bilateral Hips “to help rule out bilat. AVN” (Dec. 8, 2003)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2005).


� Pain in the spine expressed on en bloc rotation of the trunk is one of the so-called Waddell’s signs, indicative of a “non-physiologic pain or non-physiologic findings . . . unexplained by” the known facts regarding a claimant’s condition and exposure to workplace conditions.  Deposition of J. McDermott, MD, at 16 (describing normal en bloc rotation test result) and 23-24 (discussing Waddell’s testing).


� J. A. Champoux and J.A. Weiss, Report of Examination (Oct. 22, 2003), at pages 4-5 (medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� J. A. Champoux and J.A. Weiss, Report of Examination (Oct. 22, 2003), at page 4 (medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Id. at page 6.


� Id. at 7, para. 3.


� Id. at 7, para. 5


� Dr. Stump Depo. (May 25, 2007), at pages 34-35.


� J.F. Green, MD and W.J. Stump, MD, Report of Examination, Central Seattle Panel of Consultants (Mar. 18, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005), at pages 4-5.  At deposition, Dr. Stump opined that this abnormal pattern of decreased pinprick sensitivity did not conform to mapped dermatomes, and therefore there was not a “consistent pattern of nerve root involvement.”  Deposition of W.J. Stump, (May 25, 2007) at pages 22-23. 


�� J.F. Green, MD and W.J. Stump, MD, id., at page 6.  Dr. Stump defined “radiculitis” as “pain along a nerve path,” and “radiculopathy” as a “deficit in distribution of a nerve root.”  Deposition of W.J. Stump (May 25, 2007), at pages 36.


� J.F. Green, MD and W.J. Stump, MD, id., at pages 6-7.


� J.F. Green, MD, Review of Records, Central Seattle Panel of Consultants (dated Aug. 5, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 26, 2004).


� W.J. Stump, MD, Report of Examination, Central Seattle Panel of Consultants (Sept. 16, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005).


� Dr. Taylor is identified as a consulting physician with the CPGH.  See: http://www.cpgh.org/Physicians%20&�%20Staff/Courtesy%20-%20Consulting%20Staff.htm


� S. Taylor, MD, Chart note, Alaska Spine Institute (Mar. 16, 2005)(medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� Clonus is defined as a “series of rapid rhythmic contractions of a muscle occurring in respond to maintained passive stretch of the muscle.”


� The MRI images that would have been available for Dr. Eule’s review at that time were those taken on August 20, 2003 (lumbar), December 12, 2003 (right and left hips), July 29, 2004 (lumbar)


� J.M. Eule, MD, Consultation Note, Orthopedic Physicians Anchorage (July 28, 2005)(emphasis added)(medical summary filed Oct. 19, 2005).


� See � HYPERLINK "http://www.alaskaspineinstitute.com/page121.htm" �http://www.alaskaspineinstitute.com/page121.htm� (describing Dr. Johnston’s areas of practice).


� S.P. Johnston, MD, Letter to M. McInstosh, MD, Re: Koerber, Dorothy (dated Mar. 16, 2006)(filed Mar. 23, 2006).


� J.E. McDermott, MD, Letter Evaluation to Div. of Workers’ Comp., Dept. of Labor & Workforce Dev., State of Alaska (dated Sept. 18, 2006), at page 3 (filed Oct. 5, 2006).


� Id. at page 3; Deposition of J.E. McDermott, at pages 14-15.


� Dr. McDermott identified a typographical error of omission, the word “disturbance” was left out of his report at page three, under the paragraph where he described his observations of sensory testing of the lower extremities.  See Deposition of J.E. McDermott, MD, at page 21, lines 1-12.


� Id. at page 3.


�Id. at pages 4-5.


� Id. at pages 5-6. 


� Id. at 6.


� Deposition of J.E. McDermott, MD, at page 


� Employee’s Br. (dated May 16, 2007, filed May 18, 2007) at page 2. 


� At deposition, on cross-examination by the employee, Dr. Stump did not deny this description, but denied that he was disinterested during the examination, or that he fell asleep.  Dr. Stump Depo. at pp. 29-31. 


� Employee’s Br. at page 7.


� Unsigned, unsworn document entitled “Chairman Robert Briggs,” filed July 25, 2007.


� Id.  


� Id.  The employee also submitted as “medical expenses” the costs of obtaining a copy of the deposition transcript of Dr. McDermott, and a UPS shipping charge.  These items totaled $209.86: $171 for a copy of transcript of Dr. McDermott’s deposition; and $48.86 for a UPS mail charge.  These will be treated as “costs” of the litigation, and will be addressed separately.


� The employee, who admits to poor memory, recalls in her brief that her conversation with Dr. McIntosh on medical stability took place in “December 2005.”  Employee’s Br. at page 5.  The Board has found no written documentation of such an opinion, finding Physician’s Reports by Dr. McIntosh of stability as of October 5, 2005, then, after the employee’s fall on or about December 5, 2005, an expression of lack of medical stability in December 2005, and that the employee reached medical stability again as of January 2006.  M. McIntosh, MD, Physician’s Report (dated Oct. 5, 2005)(filed Nov. 28, 2005); M. McIntosh, Chart Note (dated Dec. 31, 2005)(also filed in medical summary, filed Jul.24, 2006)(noting employee not medically stable); M. McIntosh, Chart note (dated Jan. 31, 2006) attached to Physician’s Report (dated Jan. 31, 2006)(“[p]atient is back to her original state before she fell and is medically stable again.”).


� E.g., Dr. Stump Depo., at page 25.


� Employer’s Br. at pages 1, 11-13 (citing to McDermott and Stump, and to McIntosh’s refusal to admit the employee on September 27, 2005).


� Letter, R. Bredesen, Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski, to R. Briggs, Dept. of Labor, Div. of Workers’ Comp. (dated Aug. 29, 2007; filed Aug. 31, 2007).


� Letter, D.Koerber to R. Briggs (dated Aug. 20, 2007; filed Aug. 21, 2007).


� Dr. McIntosh opined that the employee was again not medically stable, from December 15, 2005 to January 31, 2006, but that period of time is not part of the employee’s claim, and we do not decide the employee’s entitlement to TTD for that period of time.  See, e.g., Pre-Hearing Conference Summary dated Feb. 7, 2007 (defining issues for the May 29, 2007 hearing).


� AS 23.30.395(10).


� AS 23.30.185; AS 23.30.200.


� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).    


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Id. at 869.  


� Id.


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 870 (Alaska 1985).


� E.g., M.N. Hadley and S.V. Reddy, “Smoking and the human vertebral column: a review of the impact of cigarette use on vertebral bone metabolism and spinal fusion,” 41: Neurosurgery 116-24 (July 1997), abstracted at National Center for Biotechnology Information ( � HYPERLINK "http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov" �http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov�) (printout   filed   Nov. 19, 2007).


� The panel evaluation by Drs. Champoux and Weiss, performed on October 22, 2003, confirmed a work-related strain, and recommended physical therapy.  Their opinion did not address the question before us of the employee’s medical instability after September 14, 2004, except as a prediction.  Dr. Taylor’s evaluation on March 16, 2005 was incomplete, as he did not have complete medical records; he performed no diagnosis of the employee, and expressed no opinions on causation, or on medical stability.


� Dr. McDermott is referring to the Letter, K. Donovan, WCO, Div. of Workers’ Comp., Alaska Dept. of Labor & Workforce Dev., to J.G. McDermott, MD, re: Koerber v. Soldotna Elks Lodge #2706 (dated Aug. 4, 2005).  See McDermott Depo. at pages 41-42.


� Deposition of J.McDermott, MD, at page 35, lines 12-22, page 40, line 23 to page 41, line 21, and page 50, lines 11-14.


� Letter, K. Donovan, WCO, Div. of Workers’ Comp., Alaska Dept. of Labor & Workforce Dev., to J.G. McDermott, MD, re: Koerber v. Soldotna Elks Lodge #2706 (dated Aug. 4, 2005), at page 1.


� See Boyd v. Arctic Slope Native Corp., AWCB Dec. No. 02-0200, at page (Sept. 15, 2000), citing Transportation and Marketing Services v. Zelena, 4FA-99-606 Civil at 11 (November 24, 1999) (Board not bound by Daubert standard for admissibility of expert opinion evidence); cf. AT&T Alascom v. Orchitt, 161 P.3d 1232 (Alaska 2007)(declining to address applicability of Daubert/State v. Coon admissibility standard to workers’ compensation proceedings, due to waiver of issue at Board level).


� Cowen v. Wal-Mart, 93 P.3d 420 (Alaska 2004)(Board to weigh conflicting opinions of medical experts); see Inscho v. Rodda Paint Co., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0180 (June 28, 2007)(discounting EME opinion that ignored treating providers’ observations of indicia of pain).


� The Board notes there is some evidence of pre-existing urinary incontinence, which may be a sequellae of RMSF.


� On grounds of violation of substantive due process.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Leigh, 823 P.2d 1241, 1246 (Alaska 1992).


� See AS 44.62.460(e).


� Leigh, 823 P.2d at 1246-1247.


� 914 P.2d at 1279.


� 818 P.2. at 665.


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).


� Id. at 675.


� This is based on a claim of 1,519 miles at a rate of 48.5¢ per mile.   See unsigned document entitled “Chairman Robert Briggs” filed July 25, 2007.


� The employee adds 10.5% interest to her claim due to using a credit card to pay the expenses.  See id.  The employee’s entitlement to interest, if any, is addressed in a section below.


� The employee also makes a claim for the costs of a duplicate of Dr. McDermott’s deposition, and a UPS postal delivery fee.  These are more properly “costs” dealt with in a later section of this decision, rather than “medical and related benefits.”


� Letters, R. Bredesen, Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski, to R. Briggs, AWCB (Aug. 15 and 22, 2007).


� D. Koerber, Intake Questionnaire, Rehabilitation Medicine Associates (Mar. 15, 2005), at page 1 (medical summary filed Nov. 1, 2005).


� Letter, R. Bredesen, Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski, to R. Briggs, AWCB (Aug. 29, 2007).


� 1,519 miles  x $.375 per mile = $569.63.


� The unsubstantiated $45 charge for Wellbutrin has been deducted from the employee’s Rx expenses.


� “AMA Guides,” 5th Ed.


� See, e.g., Nickels v. Napolilli, AWCB Decision No. 02-0055 (March 28, 2002); Jarrard v. Nana Regional Corp., AWCB Decision No. 90-0299 (December 14, 1990).  


� M.McIntosh, MD, Physician’s Report (Oct. 5, 2005), at page 1, Blocks 26-29 (filed Nov. 28, 2005).


� McDermott Depo. at pages 50-51.


� W.R. Stump, MD, Report of Examination, Central Seattle Panel of Consultants (Sept. 16, 2004)(medical summary filed Aug. 9, 2005) at page 7, Para. 5.


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.  


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).   


� AS 23.30.122.


� AS 23.30.155(p) provides a different rate of interest for injuries on or after July 1, 2000.


� See Rawls 686 P.2d at 1192; Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs, 860 P.2d at 1191.


� 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).


� Id. at 358.  


� Seamon v. Matanuska Susitna Borough Sch. Dist., AWCB Decision No. 02-0045 (Mar. 8, 2002); Waddell v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0095 (Apr. 17, 1998); Stair v. Pool Arctic Alaska Drilling, AWCB Decision No. 98-0092 (Apr. 13, 1998).  


� See Slaughter v. Peratrovich, Nottingham & Drage, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0149 (July 30, 2001);  Prenger v. K-Mart, AWCB Decision No. 98-0190 (July 23, 1998); Lincoln v. TIC-The Industrial Company, AWCB Decision No. 97-0212 (Oct. 20, 1997).  
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